KiNlrlA^UNTY SHERIFF

IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF WASHINGTON

COUNTY OF KING

DON KENNEDY PROPERTIES LLC d/b/a Don
Kennedy Real Estate as agent for the owner,

Plaintiffs),

vs.

JOEL CHRISTOPHER HOLMES and ALL
OTHER OCCUPANTS,

Defendant(s).

Case No: 12-2-39304-4 SEA

COMPLAINT FOR UNLAWFUL

DETAINER

COMES NOW the plaintiff, Don Kennedy Properties LLC d/b/a Don Kennedy Real Estate as

agent for the owner, by and through its attorneys of record, Law Office of Evan L. Loeffler PLLC, and

for cause of action against the defendant, claims and alleges as follows:

1. Plaintiff. Don Kennedy Properties LLC d/b/a Don Kennedy Real Estate as agent for the owner,

THIS IS NOTICE OF A LAWSUIT TO EVICT YOU.
PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY.

THE DEADLINE FOR YOUR RESPONSE IS

5:00 p.m. on Thursday, December 20, 2012.

TO: Joel Christopher Holmes and all other occupants

AT: 4120 Brooklyn Avenue, Apt. 405, Seattle, Washington 98105

THIS IS NOTICE of a lawsuit to evict you from the property which you are renting Your
landlord is asking the court to terminate your tenancy, direct the sheriff to remove you and your
belongings from the property, enter a money judgment against you for unpaid rent and/or damages for
your use ofthe property, and for court costs and attorneys' fees

IF YOU WANT TO DEFEND yourself in this lawsuit, you must respond to the eviction
complaint in writing on or before the deadline stated above. You must respond to the eviction complaint
in writing even ifno case number has been assigned by the court yet.

You can respond to the complaint in writing by delivering acopy of a notice of appearance or
answer and if required by this summons, a sworn statement regarding nonpayment of rent, to your
landlord s attorney by personal delivery, mailing, or facsimile to the address or facsimile number stated
below TO BE RECEIVED NO LATER THAN THE DEADLINE STATED ABOVE Service by

EVICTIONS SUMMONS - PAGE LAW OFFICE OF EVAN L. LOEFFLER PLLC
2033 Sixth Avenue, Suite 1040

Seattle, WA 98121-2527
Phnnp- Or\A Ai"X aA7a • OH/ A A1 Ad AC
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facsimile is complete upon successful transmission to the facsimile number, if any, listed in the
summons.

The notice of appearance or answer must include the name of this case (plaintiff(s) and
defendants)), your name, the street address where further legal papers may be sent to you, your
telephone number (if any), andyoursignature.

Ifthere is a number in the upper right side ofthe eviction summons and complaint, you must also
file your original notice ofappearance or answer with the court clerk by the deadline for your written
response.

You may demand that the plaintiff file this lawsuit with the court. Ifyou do so, the demand must
be in writing and must be served upon the party signing the summons. Within fourteen (14) days after
you serve the demand, the plaintiff must file this lawsuit with the court, or the service upon you ofthis
summons and complaint will be void.

Ifyou wish to seek the advice ofan attorney in this matter, you should do so promptly so that
your written response, if any, may be served on time.

You may also be instructed in a separate order to appear for a court hearing on your eviction. If
you receive an order to show cause, you must personally appear at the hearing on the date indicated in the
order to show cause IN ADDITION to delivering and filing your notice ofappearance or answer by the
deadline stated above.

IF YOU DO NOT RESPOND TO THE COMPLAINT IN WRITING BY THE
DEADLINE STATED ON PAGE ONE,YOU WILL LOSE BY DEFAULT. YOUR LANDLORD
MAY PROCEED WITH THE LAWSUIT, EVEN IF YOU HAVE MOVED OUT OF THE
PROPERTY.

Dated, December 10, 2012.

LAW OFFICE OF EVAN L.

Etfan L. Loeffler, WSBA No. 241 Of
Christopl]#r D. Cutting, WSBA No] 41730
Jeana K. Poloni, WSBA No. 43172
Attorneys for Plaintiff

?LER PLLC

The notice of appearance or answer must be delivered to:

EVICTIONS SUMMONS - PAGE 2

Law Office of Evan L. Loeffler PLLC

2033 Sixth Avenue, Suite 1040
Seattle, Washington 98121
(206) 443-8678
(206) 443-4545 facsimile

LAW OFFICE OF EVAN L LOEFFLER PLLC
2033 Sixth Avenue, Suite 1040

Seattle, WA 98121-2527

Phone: 206.443.8678 Fax: 206.443.4545
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mm eiUHTY sheriff

IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF KING

DON KENNEDY PROPERTIES LLC d/b/a Don
Kennedy Real Estate as agent for the owner,

Plaintiff

Case No: 12-2-39304-4 SEA

MOTION FOR ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE

WHY WRIT OF RESTITUTION SHOULD

NOT BE ISSUED

vs.

JOEL CHRISTOPHER HOLMES and ALL
OTHER OCCUPANTS,

Defendants.

MOTION

COMES NOW the plaintiff, by and through the Law Office of Evan L. Loeffler PLLC, its

attorneys of record, and moves the Court for an order directing the defendant to appearand showcause,

if any, why a writ of restitution should not be issued directing the King County Sheriff to restore to

Plaintiff possession of the premises located at 4120 Brooklyn Avenue, Apt. 405, Seattle, Washington

98105, and why an order granting such other relief as prayed for in the complaint should not be entered.

This motion is based upon the records and files herein.

DATED this 10th day of December, 2012.

LAW OFFICE Of EVAN L. LOEFFLER PLLC

MOTION TO SHOW CAUSE — PAGE 1

Etfan L. Lcrfeffler, WSBA No. 2/105
Christopher D. Cutting, WSB#No. 41730
Jeana K. Poloni, WSBA No. 43172
Attorneys for Plaintiff

LAW OFFICE OF EVAN L LOEFFLER PLLC

2033 Sixth Avenue, Suite 1040

Seattle, WA 98121-2527
Dkrt«rt. OAZ A AO OZ7Q C~.«. Or\Z A A O A C A C
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KIKfirCtUHTY SHERIFF

IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF KING

DON KENNEDY PROPERTIES LLC d/b/a Don
Kennedy Real Estateas agent for the owner,

Plaintiff,
vs.

JOEL CHRISTOPHER HOLMES and ALL
OTHER OCCUPANTS,

Defendants.

Case No: 12-2-39304-4 SEA

ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE WHY WRIT OF
RESTITUTION SHOULD NOT BE ISSUED

[Clerk's Action Required]

THIS MATTER having come on for hearing upon the motion of Plaintiff for an order to appear

and show cause why ajudgment should not be entered pursuant to the prayer for relief in the complaint,

including a writ of restitution directing the King County Sheriff to restore possession of the property

described in the complaint to Plaintiff, and it appearing from the complaint that there may be reasonable

grounds for the granting of such relief,

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Defendants mast appear and show cause before this Court on

December 21, 2012, at 9:00 a.m., in King County Superior Court, Courtroom W-325, 516 Third

Avenue, Seattle, Washington, or as soon thereafter as this matter may be heard, why this Court should

notenter judgment and issue a writof restitution directing the King County Sheriffto restore Plaintiff to

possession of the premises located at 4120 Brooklyn Avenue, Apt. 405, Seattle, Washington 98105.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that upon the failure of Defendants to appear and show cause by

the date and time specified by this order, the Court will issue an order issuing a writ of restitution
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directing the Sheriff to restore possession of the subject premises to Plaintiff, and grant such other relief

as requested in Plaintiffs complaint and as provided by law.

DONE IN OPEN COURT this lO day of December, 2012.

J=y.D6rE/COURT COMMISSIONER

Presented by:

LAW OFFICE^F EVAN L. LOEFFLER PLLC

van L. Loeffler, WSBA NoT241/)5
Christopher D. Cutting, WSBAJjto. 41730
Jeana K. Poloni, WSBA No. 43172
Attorneys for Plaintiff