II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This appeal arises out of a judgment finding Mr. Holmes in 

unlawful detainer ofresidential real property. CP at 2. In November 

2012, during a routine entry to install carbon monoxide detectors1 in Mr. 

Holmes' unit, Don Kennedy Properties discovered Mr. Holmes had 

allowed his apartment to deteriorate into a state of extreme clutter and 

disorder; Mr. Holmes had accumulated "an extremely large amount of 

waste paper, plastic bags of junk, numerous coffee pots, and other junk" in 

his small apartment. CP at 2. On November 19, 2012, Don Kennedy 

Properties served Mr. Holmes with a 10 day notice to comply or vacate for 

allowing excess junk to accumulate on the premises. CP at 2. He did not 

comply within the 10 days allowed by law. Id; see RCW 59.12.030(4). 

On December 10, 2012, Mr. Holmes was arrested by the Seattle Police 

Department and held at the King County Jail. That same day, Don 

Kennedy Properties commenced an unlawful detainer action. 

The court set a show cause hearing and later continued the matter 

to allow the defendant to make arrangements to appear. On December 

27, 2012, Mr. Holmes appeared telephonically from the King County Jail. 

CP at 4. Both sides presented evidence and argument and the court 

commissioner found Mr. Holmes was in unlawful detainer for failure to 

1 State law was revised to require carbon monoxide detectors in most residences by 2013. 
RCW 19.27.530. 



comply with the notice, directed the clerk to issue a writ of restitution, and 

granted judgment for partial December rent, reasonable attorney's fees, 

and taxable costs. Mr. Holmes appeals. 

III. ARGUMENT 

A. Mr. Holmes does not assign error to a single finding of fact, 

conclusion of law, or trial court order and the judgment should be 

affirmed on those grounds alone 

On appeal, any unchallenged findings of fact, conclusions of law, 

and orders are considered conclusively established. The appellant must 

designated "a separate concise statement of each error a party contends 

was made by the trial court, together with the issues pertaining to the 

assignments of error." RAP 10.3(a)(4); Burback v. Bucher, 56 Wn.2d 

875, 877, 355 P.2d 981 (1960). Findings of fact that are not specifically 

designated in the assignments of error become verities on appeal. Jensen 

v. Lake Jane Estates, 165 Wn. App. 100, 110, 267 P.3d 435 (2011); State 

v. Hill, 123 Wn.2d 641, 644, 870 P .2d 313 ( 1994 ). Trial court orders and 

conclusions oflaw in the judgment that are not similarly designated in the 

assignments of error are waived and become law of the case. In re Estate 

o_f'Campbell, 87 Wn. App. 506, 512 n.l, 942 P.2d 1008 (1997); Goldberg 

v. Sanglier, 27 Wn. App. 179, 191, 616 P .2d 1239 ( 1980), rev 'don other 

grounds by 96 Wn.2d 874, 639 P.2d 1347 (1982); see RAP 10.3. 

2 



The appellant must then discuss each alleged error in the argument 

section of his brief. RAP 10.3(a)(6); RAP 12. l(a); Burback, 56 Wn.2d at 

877. Any issue not both identified in the statement of error and discussed 

in the argument section, with citation to the record and supporting 

authority, is waived and will not be considered by the appellate court. 

Weyerhaeuser Co. v. Comm. Union Ins. Co., 142 Wn.2d 654, 692-93, 15 

P.3d 115 (2000). 

Mr. Holmes' opening brief contains issues statements, see Opening 

Brief, at 9-10, but does not contain any assignment of error, nor does it 

designate a single finding of fact, conclusion of law, or trial court order 

that contain error. Mr. Holmes' failure to properly designate a single 

finding of fact as error means that the findings of fact are verities on 

appeal. Jensen, 165 Wn. App. at 110. His failure to designate a single 

conclusion of law or any of the trial court's orders as error mean that the 

conclusions of law and orders are law of the case. In re Estate of 

Campbell, 87 Wn. App. at 512 n.1. 

Mr. Holmes' failure to properly identify errors creates an 

unreasonable burden on Don Kennedy Properties as the respondent 

because the scope of Mr. Holmes' appeal is not clear. To properly 

preserve its judgment, Don Kennedy Properties must brief issues and 

arguments that Mr. Holmes may not actually be appealing. 
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This court can affirm the appeal on the doctrine of waiver and law 

of the case, without addressing the merits of the issues. The judgment 

should be affirmed on this basis. 

B. Don Kennedy Properties moves this court to dismiss Mr. Holmes' 

appeal because he did not properly designate the record 

The party seeking review bears the burden of designating the 

clerk's papers and report of proceedings necessary for appellate court 

review. RAP 9.6(a); Olmsted v. Mulder, 72 Wn. App. 169, 183, 863 P.2d 

1355 (1993). If the appellant makes a good faith effort to assemble a 

proper record, the court will direct him to supplement the record before 

dismissing his appeal. RAP 9.10. Where the record indicates the 

appellant will not make that good faith effort, the appellate court will 

dismiss the appeal. Seattle v. Tokar, 25 Wn. App. 476, 610 P.2d 379 

(1980). 

At a minimum, the clerk's papers must include the notice of 

appeal, the summons and complaint, and the judgment. RAP 9.6(b). A 

verbatim report of proceedings must include all portions of proceeding 

necessary to present the issue raised on appeal. RAP 9.2(b). 

This court has directed Mr. Holmes to provide a complete record 

for review on three separate occasions. Each order was continued at least 

once. To date, Mr. Holmes has filed a designation of clerk's papers that 
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contains only the final judgment, not any of the other mandatory 

documents,2 and has not made any significant effort to have the December 

27 hearing where the evidence in support of that order was taken 

transcribed. 

The majority of unlawful detainers are resolved at the show cause 

hearing. See Indigo Real Estate Servs .. Inc. v. Wadsworth, 169 Wn. App. 

412, 421, 280 P.3d 506 (2012); Carlstrom v. Hanline, 98 Wn. App. 780, 

788, 990 P.2d 986 (2000); Leda v. Whisnand. 150 Wn. App. 69, 81-82, 

207 P.3d 468 (2009). The appellate court may look to the trial court's oral 

ruling to interpret its written orders. Wallace Real Estate Inv. Inc. v. 

Groves, 120 Wn.2d 512, 526, 844 P.2d 389 (1993). 

As the only substantive hearing on the matter, Mr. Holmes cannot 

demonstrate any basis for his appeal without a transcript of that hearing. 

The court's extensive oral explanation of its ruling at that hearing, 

incorporated into the written findings, makes transcription that much more 

important. Based on the foregoing, Don Kennedy Properties moves this 

court to dismiss this appeal for failure to make a good faith effort to 

complete the record. 

1 Mr. Holmes did attach copies of some of these documents as an appendix to his brief. 
See RAP I 0.3(a)(8) (appendices are permitted, but may only contain materials included 
in the record). To expedite review, Don Kennedy Properties filed a supplemental 
designation of clerk's papers that includes all the required items. 
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C. This court cannot review the trial court's findings of fact or 

conclusions of law because Mr. Holmes did not perfect the record 

At a residential unlawful detainer show cause hearing, if the 

landlord shows there is "no substantial issue of material fact," then the 

landlord is entitled to final judgment and a writ of restitution. RCW 

59.18.380; see Faciszewski v. Brown, 192 Wn. App. 441, 445-46, 367 

P .3d 1085 (2016). The mere existence of a dispute of fact does not bar the 

landlord from obtaining relief, rather, that dispute must be both substantial 

and material. See id at 449-54. At the December 27 show cause hearing, 

Don Kennedy Properties met its burden of proof and Mr. Holmes failed to 

show any substantial, material dispute. 

The findings of fact and conclusions of law in this case were 

entered following a show cause hearing. While the appellate courts have 

not previously addressed the standard of review for such findings and 

conclusions, the bench trial standard should govern because the court 

commissioner here functioned as a judge presiding over a bench triaL 

though with a heightened standard of proof. 

This court's review of a bench trial is limited to determining 

whether the challenged findings of fact are supported by substantial 

evidence and whether the findings of fact support the conclusions of law. 
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Standing Rock Homeowners Ass'n v. Misich, 106 Wn. App. 231, 242--43, 

23 p .3d 520 (2001 ). 

Substantial evidence is the "quantum of evidence sufficient to 

persuade a rational fair-minded person the premise is true." Sunnyside 

Valley Irrigation Dist. v. Dickie, 149 Wn.2d 873, 879, 73 P.3d 369 (2003). 

The appellate court must make all reasonable inferences in the light most 

favorable to the judgment. Korst v. McMahon, 136 Wn. App. 202, 206, 

148 P .3d 1081 (2006). There is a presumption in favor of the judgment 

and the party alleging error has the burden of showing a finding of fact is 

not supported by substantial evidence. Fisher Props. v. Arden-Mayfair, 

Inc., 115 Wn.2d 364, 369, 798 P.2d 799 (1990). Though the trier of fact is 

free to believe or disbelieve any evidence presented at trial, " [a ]ppellate 

courts do not hear or weigh evidence, find facts, or substitute their 

opinions for those of the trier-of-fact." Quinn v. Cherry Lane Auto Plaza, 

Inc., 153 Wn. App. 710, 717, 225 P.3d 266 (2009). Unchallenged findings 

are verities on appeal. Hill, 123 Wn.2d at 644. 

Mr. Holmes has not designated any findings or conclusions for 

review, so they are conclusively determined before this court. Even if Mr. 

Holmes had designated any of the findings as error, he did not obtain a 

report of proceedings that would allow this court to review those findings 

for substantial evidence. 
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Unless this court directs Mr. Holmes to obtain a verbatim report of 

proceedings to supplement the record, see RAP 9 .10, it must accept the 

court commissioner's findings as verities. The transcript is particularly 

important in this case because the trial court incorporated its oral findings 

into the written record. Likewise, because Mr. Holmes did not assign 

error to any conclusions of law, they are now binding as law of the case. 

Assuming the court wishes to review the court commissioner's 

conclusions for error, the remainder of this brief will address those 

arguments identified in Mr. Holmes' issue statements. 

D. Mr. Holmes' arguments also fail on the merits